IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CA-01696

BOBBIE JOHNSON

APPELLANT

V.

ST. DOMINIC JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

HIAWATHA NORTHINGTON II NORTHINGTON LAW FIRM P.O. BOX 1003 JACKSON, MS 39215-1003 (601) 914-0253 (601) 213-4621 (facsimile) hnorthington@northingtonlaw.com

COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CA-01696

BOBBIE JOHNSON

APPELLANT

V.

ST. DOMINIC JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. The Circuit Court of Hinds County erred in failing to grant Bobbie Johnson's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the alternative, for New Trial.
- II. The Circuit Court of Hinds County erred in failing to reconvene the jury to determine its true verdict, and the proper remedy should be the granting of a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in Court Below

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court of Hinds County, wherein the Circuit Court denied Bobbie Johnson's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, for new trial, after entering a judgment on a jury verdict in favor of St. Dominic.

Bobbie Johnson was treated at St. Dominic Jackson Memorial Hospital in 2003 for a laparascopic cholecystectomy. (C.P. at 5). Immediately following this procedure, on November 3, 2003, Ms. Johnson received an intramuscular (IM) injection of phenergan in her left buttock, to alleviate nausea most likely associated with the anesthesia she received. (C.P. at 5). At the time of the injection, Ms. Johnson developed an intense burning sensation at the site of the injection, and notified the nursing staff, of the sensation, complaining that the pain was unlike any she had before. (C.P. at 5, T. at 32-33). Ms. Johnson was discharged from St. Dominic.

About three weeks later, Ms. Johnson presented to another hospital in Gulfport with a wound on her left hip, still complaining of significant pain and burning at the site of her phenergan injection. (C.P. at 5). Ms. Johnson was readmitted to St. Dominic on December 8, 2003, presenting with

chemical necrosis of the left buttock, resulting from her phenergan injection. Ms. Johnson required a surgical debridement of the wound, with excision of a 7 cm by 5 cm by 4 cm area of necrotized, or dead, tissue. (C.P. at 6). Following this, Ms. Johnson was left with a very unattractive scar and required therapy and medical treatment for her injury. (C.P. at 6).

The Complaint was filed on August 27, 2004, (C.P. at 4), alleging, inter alia, that St. Dominic personnel failed to properly administer the phenergan injection to Ms. Johnson, according to the orders of Ms. Johnson's physician. An answer was duly and timely filed by the Defendant St. Dominic Hospital, and discovery ensued. (C.P. at 11).

Trial was held in the matter beginning June 4, 2006, and on June 7, 2006, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Defendant, St. Dominic Hospital. (C.P. at 73). After the verdict was received, the presiding judge received correspondence from the jury foreman indicating that he believed the jury had misread the jury instructions. (C.P. at 87-88). Ms. Johnson filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the Alternative, for a New Trial. The Court declined the Motion, and this appeal ensued. (C.P. at 163).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Johnson is entitled to a reversal of the Circuit Court's order denying the Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the alternative, for a new trial. The overwhelming weight of the evidence submitted to the jury dictates a finding in favor of the Plaintiff. Testimony and evidence regarding the nature of the injury to Bobbie Johnson and her subsequent treatment was uncontradicted. Moreover, the witnesses for St. Dominic were sufficiently impeached based on inconsistent testimony such that no reasonable juror could conclude that St. Dominic nursing staff complied with the applicable standard of care in treating Ms. Johnson.

Additionally, the trial court should have reconvened the jury for clarification of its verdict, as there was information to suggest that the verdict returned may not have been the verdict intended. However, the appropriate remedy for that at this stage is the granting of a new trial

For these reasons, enumerated in further detail below, the circuit court abused its discretion, and this matter should be reversed and judgment rendered in favor of Bobbie Johnson, or in the alternative, remanded for a new trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. Only when the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal. *Wal-Mart Stores v. Frierson*, 818 So. 2d 1135, 1143 (Miss. 2002).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court of Hinds County erred in failing to grant Bobbie Johnson's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the alternative, for New Trial.

When an appellant challenges a jury verdict to be against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court gives great deference to the jury verdict and resolves "all conflicts in the evidence and every permissible inference from the evidence in the appellee's favor." *Walmart Stores, Inc. v. Johnson*, 807 So. 2d 382, 389 (Miss. 2001)(citing *Bobby Kitchens, Inc. v. Miss. Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 560 So. 2d 129, 131 (Miss. 1989).

Our trial courts have the authority to set aside a jury verdict "where, in the exercise of their sound discretion, they regard such a verdict as being contrary to the substantial weight of the evidence." *Blossman Gas Inc. v. Shelter Mut. Gen. Ins. Co.*, 920 So. 2d 422, 424 (Miss. 2006). As such, while cases where there are "conflicts of evidence presented at trial are to be resolved by the jury," *Id.* at 426; *Venton v. Beckham*, 845 So. 2d 676, 687 (Miss. 2003), it is incumbent upon the Court to review the evidence presented to determine whether indeed such conflicts of evidence exist.

The instant case, it is respectfully submitted, does not present such a simple conflict. A review of the testimony and evidence presented at the trial of this matter bears out this conclusion.

First, Johnson's nursing expert, Ann Limbach, testified that the LPN, Kattie Minor, did not use the proper technique in administering the injection to Bobbie Johnson. This testimony was broken into two components. First, Ms. Limbach concluded that Ms. Minor, who stated that she used a one-inch needle, used an improper needle to make the injection. (T. at 126). Second, Ms. Limbach concluded that Ms. Minor, who initially testified that she didn't know what z-tracking was, should have used the z-track method to administer the phenergan injection to Ms. Johnson. (T. at 130). Ms. Limbach opined that due to the nature of phenergan, the standard of care applicable to Ms. Minor would have provided treatment that would have prevented the injury to Ms. Johnson. (T. at 130).

In addition to that, Ms. Limbach testified that the appropriate size needle to administer phenergan to Ms. Johnson would have been a two-inch needle. (T. at 129). She reached this conclusion, stating that a proper examination and assessment of Ms. Johnson by Ms. Minor would have revealed that a one-inch needle was insufficient to reach the muscle, where the injection was intended to go. (T. at 129, 130). Based on Ms. Limbach's experience and training, and according to prevailing standards of nursing care, she concluded that if Ms. Minor had used the proper technique and assessed the patient and used the correct length of needle, Ms. Johnson

would not have sustained the injury. (T. at 130).

Second, the nurse who administered the phenergan injection, Kattie Minor, testified at trial, contrary to her deposition, that she used a 1.5 inch needle. (T. at 207). However, she could not point to any document in the medical record to substantiate her changed testimony. Moreover, Ms. Minor stated that during her entire tenure at St. Dominic, she had NEVER used a needle length other than 1.5 inches. (T. at 215-216). She further testified that this was the length of needle she used, despite the various bodily makeups of her patients' bodies, and despite the St. Dominic policies and procedures which required that individual assessments of patients be made prior to intramuscular injections, and despite the St. Dominic guidelines that suggested a woman of Ms. Johnson's bodily proportions would need a needle longer than one inch. (T. at 216-219). She also stated that she knew of no other medicine in which the z-track method, which she never used in 25 years of nursing, would be used except for administering iron, despite St. Dominic policy and procedure which indicated that z-tracking would be appropriate for any medication which is capable of irritating subcutaneous tissue. (T. at 222-224).

Third, St. Dominic's expert witness, Suzy Temple, a nurse, testified that phenergan is an admittedly irritating drug that can cause tissue necrosis

if injected into subcutaneous tissue. (T. at 289). She also assumed that Ms. Minor used a 1.5 inch needle, although there was no documentary evidence produced to support that conclusion. (T. at 292). She testified that she would not consider it significant for a patient to complain about pain at a phenergan injection site, and even if the patient stated it was a pain unlike any she had ever had, it still would not warrant charting. (T. at 295). She further testified that in her years of teaching, she had never run across a document or text that indicated phenergan should be z-tracked. (T. at 298). However, she admitted that one of the textbooks she used and on which she relied clearly stated that for intramuscular administration of medicines irritating to subcutaneous tissue, z-tracking should be used, and that it could be routinely used for all intramuscular injections. (T. at 299-300). She further admitted that injection of phenergan into Ms. Johnson's subcutaneous tissue was not what the ordering physician, Dr. Martin, intended. (T. at 304).

There was no evidence presented to rebut the proof that Ms. Johnson suffered necrosis of her tissue as a result of the phenergan injection, nor was there any evidence to contradict the reasonableness or necessity of the medical treatment Ms. Johnson received relative to the injury she suffered due to the injection.

St. Dominic nurses Kattie Minor and Jo Granderson both testified that they made individual assessments of patients to determine appropriate treatment. However, in the same breath, each concluded that no matter the assessment of an individual patient, a 1.5 inch needle was always appropriate. This position is clearly contrary to St. Dominic's policies and procedures which were placed in evidence at trial and explicitly provided for different length needles depending on the physical attributes of the individual patients. Even during the physical demonstrations of how a phenergan injection like Ms. Johnson's allegedly should have been done, cross-examination established that the supposed individual assessment made by the nurse was not done by Ms. Minor during her normal practice.

The jury is the ultimate arbiter of the weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses. *Breaux v. Grand Casinos of Miss., Inc.*, 854 So. 2d 1093, 1098 (Miss. App. 2003) (citing *Jackson v. Griffin*, 390 So. 2d 287, 289 (Miss. 1980)). In order to have found for St. Dominic, the jury, according to the instructions, would have had to find that either the nurse used the proper needle length, or that the z-track technique was not necessary to administer the phenergan injection. As to the needle length, Ms. Minor could not contradict her deposition conclusion that the needle used was a one inch needle, because she did not make a notation in the

record of the size of the needle used. (T. at 291-292).

It is submitted to the Court that it is highly unlikely that St. Dominic would have policies and procedures allowing for the use of varying needle sizes for intramuscular administration, or for the use of the z-track injection. The jury's conclusion ignores common sense principles. "Verdicts are to be founded upon probabilities according to common knowledge, common experience, and common sense, and not upon possibilities; and a verdict cannot convert a possibility or any number of possibilities into a probability." *Elsworth v. Glindmeyer*, 234 So. 2d 312, 319 (Miss. 1970).

It is enough if the event found was so improbable, according to the ordinary operation of physical forces, or was so overwhelmingly disproved by credible witnesses, as to compel the conviction that the jury either failed to weigh the credible evidence carefully, or drew unwarranted inferences or yielded to partisan bias.

Id.

Findings of fact must be set aside when they are clearly or manifestly against all reasonable probability, and in this case, the facts are just so. Even assuming the factual dispute regarding the size of the needle used to give Ms. Johnson's injection was resolved in favor of St. Dominic, meaning the needle was a 1.5 inch needle, the hospital is still not freed from the fallacy of its argument that the 1.5 inch needle is ALWAYS appropriate, despite its

own internal policies which dictate that it is not. Additionally, the presumption does not explain St. Dominic's expert's position that the z-track technique should not be used to administer phenergan, even though the textbook from which she teaches teaches nurses otherwise.

The position of St. Dominic as a whole is substantially impeached by the undisputed facts, the testimony of the witnesses, both for Ms. Johnson and St. Dominic, and by documentary evidence. It is because these circumstances exist, then, that this Court should make the rare decision to override the great deference usually afforded to a jury's considered verdict, and reverse and remand this matter for a new trial.

II. The Circuit Court of Hinds County erred in failing to reconvene the jury to determine its true verdict, and the proper remedy should be the granting of a new trial.

It is submitted that the jury's verdict does not represent the true verdict of the jurors in this case, and was the result of error as defined by this Court in *Martin v. State*, 732 So. 2d 847 (Miss. 1998). In Martin, the Court examined the circumstances in which the jury's verdict may be investigated to determine whether it was the actual verdict voted and agreed upon. The Court examined a Fifth Circuit decision, *United States v. Dotson*, 817 F. 2d 1127 (5th Cir. 1987), modified on reh'g, 821 F. 2d 1034 (5th Cir. 1987), where the Court of Appeals found that the district court should have sent a

jury back for further deliberations, or should have ordered a new trial, where three jurors, after the jury was discharged, confirmed that contrary to the guilty verdict read in court, the jurors had actually voted to acquit on a charge. *Id.* at 1129.

In *Martin*, the Court was presented with a scenario where the jury returned a guilty verdict, and after a motion for new trial was denied, counsel for the defendant was approached by jurors who read about the sentence and informed the attorney that the verdict should have been something else. The attorney then obtained affidavits from the jurors stating that a mistake had been made, and asked the trial court to set aside the judgment, which the trial court then denied. Martin, 732 So. 2d at 848. The Martin Court determined that a logical extension of the rule normally prohibiting juror testimony regarding the "validity" of a verdict or its thought processes in reaching the verdict, would be to allow evidence establishing that a jury's verdict was not the verdict actually voted and agreed upon. Id. at 854. The Supreme Court ruled that the matter should be remanded to the trial court for a hearing to determine the true verdict of the jury, and only for resolution of that point. *Id*.

In this case, the trial court received contact in the form of an e-mail from the jury foreman post-trial, suggesting that the jury somehow

misinterpreted the court's instructions. (C.P. at 87). The trial court, in forwarding the letter to the undersigned counsel and counsel for St. Dominic, noted that a misunderstanding of the jury concerning the law and evidence is not an extraneous source of improper influence upon which evidence may be obtained from a jury or through which a jury's verdict may be impeached. However, Ms. Johnson submits to the court that this correspondence squarely suggests that the jury's intended verdict may not have been what was actually indicated in court. In the Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the alternative, for New Trial, Ms. Johnson requested that the court reconvene the jury for the specific purposes of determining of whom each juror intended his or her verdict to be intended. However, practically speaking, at this point, Ms. Johnson submits to the court that such an endeavor would not be feasible, and the only remedy would be to order a new trial. Accordingly, Ms. Johnson alternatively requests that the Court grant her a new trial on the merits.

CONCLUSION

Clearly, the best interests of justice were not served by the entry of judgment in favor of St. Dominic Hospital and by the denial of Bobbie Johnson's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the alternative, for New Trial. The circuit court abused its discretion in failing

to grant Bobbie Johnson's post-trial motion, an error which should be corrected by this Court, and it is respectfully submitted that the Court should hereby REVERSE AND RENDER judgment in favor of Bobbie Johnson, or in the alternative, REMAND this matter to the Circuit Court of Hinds County for a new trial on the merits.