IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BOBBIE JOHNSON

VS.

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

NO. 2006-CA-01696

ST. DOMINIC-JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Appeal From The Circuit Court For The First Judicial District Of Hinds County, Mississippi

Brief For Appellee

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

John E. Wade, Jr., MSB No. Sharon F. Bridges, MSB No. Jonathan R. Werne, MSB No. BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC 1400 Trustmark Building 248 East Capitol Street Post Office Drawer 119 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 Telephone: 601-948-3101 Facsimile: 601-960-6902

Counsel for Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BOBBIE JOHNSON

VS.

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

NO. 2006-CA-01696

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Hinds County Circuit Court abused his discretion in denying Appellant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the alternative, for New Trial.
- II. Whether the Hinds County Circuit Court abused his discretion in denying Appellant's request to reconvene the jury based upon testimony relating to how the jury interpreted or misinterpreted a jury instruction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

St. Dominic did not breach the applicable standard of care in treating Ms. Johnson. At trial, St. Dominic presented evidence that the nurse who administered the injection of Phenergan used the proper needle length and technique. Further, St. Dominic presented evidence that Ms. Johnson's injuries would not have been prevented even if the nurse had used the technique suggested by the Appellant. St. Dominic presented a sufficient amount of evidence that a reasonable and fairminded jury could have returned a verdict for St. Dominic. Moreover, the overwhelming weight of the evidence supports the jury's verdict in favor of St. Dominic.

The trial court did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellant's request to reconvene the jury based on a letter sent from the jury foreman to the trial judge via email regarding the court's instructions. The jury foreman's letter suggested that the jury may have misinterpreted one of the instructions provided by the court. This type of jury testimony is impermissible under Rule 606(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence as testimony to the jury's mental processes.

As a result, the trial court did not abuse his discretion in denying Appellant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or in the alternative, for a New Trial.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court applies an abuse of discretion standard to the review of a trial court's denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or a motion for new trial. *Smith v. Crawford*, 937 So. 2d 446, 447 (Miss. 2006)(stating "[t]he standard of review for considering a trial court's decision denying a motion for a new trial is whether the trial court abused it discretion"); *Smith v. State*, 925 So. 2d 825, 831 (Miss. 2006)(stating "[t]he standard of review for a post-trial motion, like a motion for judgment [notwithstanding the verdict], is abuse of discretion").

The motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict¹ tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence supporting the verdict and further, asks a court to hold, as a matter of law, that the verdict may not stand. *McFarland v. Entergy Miss., Inc.*, 919 So. 2d 894, 900 (Miss. 2005); *Spradlin v. Smith*, 494 So. 2d 354, 355 (Miss. 1986). All of the evidence, not just evidence which supports the non-movant's case, must be considered by the trial court in the light most favorable to the party opposed to the motion. *McFarland*, 919 So. 2d at 900; *Spradlin*, 494 So. 2d at 355. The non-movant must also be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. *3M Co. v. Johnson*, 895 So. 2d 151, 160 (Miss. 2005); *Spradlin*, 494 So. 2d at 355.

If the facts and inferences considered in this manner point so overwhelmingly in favor of the movant that reasonable persons could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, the court is required to grant the motion. *Johnson*, 895 So. 2d at 160; *City of Jackson v. Locklar*, 431 So. 2d

¹ Although Appellant argues that the lower court erred in failing to grant her motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and her motion for a new trial, she does not present any legal support in her brief demonstrating how the trial judge abused his discretion in denying her motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. In her brief, Appellant only addresses whether the trial judge abused his discretion in denying her motion for a new trial. (Brief of Appellant at 12)(hereinafter referred to as "App. Brf.").

475, 478 (Miss. 1983). On the other hand, if there is evidence of a quality and weight that reasonable and fairminded persons in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions, then the motion should be denied and the verdict allowed to stand. *Johnson*, 895 So. 2d at 160; *Locklar*, 431 So. 2d at 478. Thus, it is only when a directed verdict at the close of the plaintiff's case or at the close of the defendant's case would have been proper that a judgment notwithstanding the verdict will be appropriate. *See C & C Trucking Co. v. Smith*, 612 So. 2d 1092, 1098 (Miss. 1992).

Mississippi case law demonstrates that the motion for a new trial is a special tool utilized in "rare cases when there would be injustice in either allowing the verdict to stand or in granting a j.n.o.v." *C* & *C* Trucking Co., 612 So. 2d at 1098. Unlike a motion for j.n.o.v. which challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict, a motion for a new trial challenges the weight of the evidence. *Henson v. Roberts*, 679 So. 2d 1041, 1045 (Miss. 1996); *Cummins v. Century 21 Action Realty, Inc.*, 563 So. 2d 1382, 1386 (Miss. 1990).

A motion for a new trial may be granted "when the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence,² or when the jury has been confused by faulty jury instructions, or when the jury has departed from its oath and its verdict is a result from bias, passion, and prejudice." *Bobby Kitchens, Inc. v. Miss. Ins. Guar. Ass 'n*, 560 So. 2d 129, 132 (Miss. 1989). When a court considers whether a jury verdict should be disturbed, the court should consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *C & C Trucking Co.*, 612 So. 2d at 1098.

In the instant case, Appellant has failed to meet any of the requirements for either a judgment notwithstanding the verdict or a new trial.

 $^{^{2}}$ In her brief, Appellant only argues that the jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. (App. Brf. at 12).

II. ST. DOMINIC NURSE PROPERLY ADMINISTERED THE INTRAMUSCULAR INJECTION OF PHENERGAN.

A. St. Dominic Nurse Properly Administered The Intramuscular Injection With A One And One-Half Inch Needle.

Appellant's first contention is that Kattie Minor, one of the nurses that treated Ms. Johnson during her admission at St. Dominic, did not use the proper needle length to administer Ms. Johnson with an intramuscular (IM) injection of Phenergan in her left buttock. (App. Brf. at 13-15). Nurse Minor testified unequivocally during trial that she used a one and one-half inch needle to administer the IM injection of Phenergan to Ms. Johnson. (Tr. at 207, 211-12). Appellant, however, argues in her brief that Nurse Minor stated in her deposition that she used a one inch needle to administer the IM injection to Ms. Johnson. (App. Brf. at 14). At trial, Appellant never questioned Nurse Minor regarding the needle length used to administer the IM injection to Ms. Johnson. Minor regarding the needle length used to administer the IM injection to Ms. Johnson. Nurse Minor regarding the needle length used to administer the IM injection to Ms. Johnson. Appellant never attempted to impeach Nurse Minor regarding the length of the needle she used to administer the IM injection using her previous deposition testimony.

At trial, Jo Granderson, another nurse who treated Ms. Johnson at St. Dominic, testified that at each hospital where she had been previously employed over her twenty-nine year career as a nurse, she has only used a one and one-half inch needle to administer an IM injection. (Tr. 232-33). She further stated that St. Dominic only provided nurses with a one and one-half inch needle³ to administer an IM injection. (Tr. 247). Beverly Babb, the Director of Nursing at St. Dominic, further testified that St. Dominic has never used a needle longer than an inch and a half for an IM injection of Phenergan. (Tr. 325). Not only is the fact that Nurse Minor used a one

³ Appellant in her brief argues that St. Dominic should have provided nurses with the variety of needle sizes. (App. Brf. at 17-18). However, Ms. Granderson and Ms. Temple testified that there were alternative routes to administer medication. (Tr. 249, 283-84). Thus, if a nurse determines that a one and one-half inch needle would not reach a patient's muscle via an intramuscular injection, then a nurse may administer the medication using an alternative route such as the deltoid muscle. (Tr. 249, 283-84).

and one-half inch needle to administer the IM injection of Phenergan not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, but also this fact was virtually uncontradicted at trial.

Appellant further contends even if Nurse Minor used an inch and a half needle length to administer the IM injection, Nurse Minor should have used a two-inch needle. (App. Brf. at 13). St. Dominic's expert, Suzy Temple, testified that Nurse Minor properly administered the IM injection with a one and half inch needle. (Tr. 280-81). Ms. Temple opined that a one and one-half inch needle was long enough to reach the Ms. Johnson's muscle. (Tr. 281). Ms. Temple further testified that she had never used, taught, or seen Phenergan administered with a needle in length greater than one and one-half inches. (Tr. 281). Nurse Minor, Nurse Minor and Ms. Babb each testified that they had administered an IM injection with a one and one-half inch needle to patients weighing more that Ms. Johnson without any problems. (Tr. 211-12, 233, 325). In fact, Nurse Minor testified that she had given this same injection in her twenty-five years as a nurse over a thousand times without any complication. (Tr. 207, 211-12). Based upon the testimony presented at trial, Nurse Minor did not breach the applicable standard of care by administering the IM injection of Phenergan to Ms. Johnson with a one and one-half inch needle.

Last, Appellant makes references to "St. Dominic's policies and procedures" requiring the use of various needle sizes at the Hospital. (App. Brf. at 16). Appellant, however, is not referencing St. Dominic's actual policies and procedures, but the Springhouse Manual, which is simply used as a guideline for nurses to refresh particular skills. Nurse Minor, Ms. Temple and Ms. Babb each testified that the Springhouse Manual is simply a guideline for nurses. (Tr. 216-17, 302-03, 323). This manual does not mandate the use of a two inch needle on patients the size of Ms. Johnson and is not a policy of St. Dominic. Furthermore, Nurse Minor, Ms. Temple and Ms. Babb each testified that administering an IM injection is a basic skill taught and perfected in nursing school and as such, nurses would not reference the Springhouse Manual to refresh themselves on such a basic skill. (Tr. 226, 303).

It is clear from the evidence presented during trial that a reasonable juror could have found that Nurse Minor used a one and one-half inch needle to administer the IM injection to Ms. Johnson. The jury heard testimony from three witnesses for St. Dominic, Nurse Minor, Nurse Minor, and Ms. Babb, testifying that Nurse Minor used a one and one-half inch needle. Further, it was a reasonable that the jury found Nurse Minor properly administered the IM injection using a one and one-half inch needle. The jury heard testimony from the expert for St. Dominic that Nurse Minor properly administered the IM injection using a one and one-half inch needle. The evidence presented demonstrates that this portion of the verdict is not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Thus, this Court should affirm the lower court's decision to deny Appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alterative, a new trial.

B. St. Dominic Nurse Properly Administered The Intramuscular Injection Without Using The Z-Track Method.

Appellant's second contention is that Nurse Minor failed to use the proper technique in administering the IM injection of Phenergan to Ms. Johnson. (App. Brf. at 13). Ms. Temple, the expert for St. Dominic, testified that the standard of care does not require nurses to administer Phenergan utilizing the Z-Track method.⁴ (Tr. 276). Ms. Temple opined that Ms. Johnson's injury would not have been prevented had Nurse Minor administered the IM injection using the Z-Track method. (Tr. 279-80). On cross-examination, even Ms. Limbach, Appellant's expert, testified that the Z-Track method would not always prevent the backtracking of medication into the subcutaneous tissue. (Tr. 156-57). Thus, it was reasonable for the jury to conclude that

⁴ The Z-Track Method is an additional step in administering an injection. (Tr. 275). Once a site is found by the nurse and before the nurse administers the injection, a nurse moves the superficial tissue to the side to prevent the medication from backtracking to the surface of the skin (Tr. 275-78).

Nurse Minor properly administered the injection of Phenergan to Ms. Johnson without using the Z-Track method.

Appellant again argues that St. Dominic's own policies and procedures required Nurse Minor to use the Z-Track method when administering Phenergan via an IM injection. (App. Brf. at 14). As previously stated, the document to which the Appellant is referring is the Springhouse Manual, which is used by nurses to refresh themselves regarding particular skills. (Tr. 216-17, 302-03, 323). Appellant could not cite any literature that required the use of the Z-Track method when administering an IM injection of Phenergan. To the contrary, St. Dominic presented evidence that neither the Physicians Desk Reference or the Phenergan package insert required the Z-Track method when administering Phenergan. (Tr. 276, 279). Ms. Temple testified that iron dextran is the only medication of which she is aware that requires the use of the Z-Track method since the medication will stain the tissue. (Tr. 277-79). Even if Nurse Minor had used the Z-Track method, which was not required, Ms. Temple opined that Ms. Johnson's injury would not have been prevented. (Tr. 279-80).

Based on the testimony presented during the trial, a reasonable juror could have found that Nurse Minor properly administered the IM injection of Phenergan without using the Z-Track method. Ms. Temple testified that the standard of care did not require the use of the Z-Track method when administering an IM injection of Phenergan. The jury also heard Ms. Temple testify that Ms. Johnson's injury would not have been prevented even if Nurse Minor had the Z-Track method, which was not required. Clearly, the evidence presented demonstrates that this portion of the verdict is not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and according, the jury verdict should stand.

III. JUROR TESTIMONY STATING THE JURY MAY HAVE MISINTERPRETED THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS IS IMPERMISSIBLE UNDER MISSISSIPPI LAW.

A. The Misinterpretation Of The Jury Instruction Is Not A Clerical Error As Defined Under Mississippi Law.

Appellant argues that the jury verdict in this case "does not represent the true verdict of the jurors in this case, and was the result of error as defined by the Supreme Court of Mississippi in *Martin v. State*, 732 So. 2d 847 (Miss. 1998)." (App. Brf. at 18).

In *Martin v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the general rule that "jurors may not be heard to impeach their verdict" and delineated limited exceptions to this general rule. *Martin*, 732 So. 2d at 852-54. Rule 606(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence states, "a juror may not testify as to any matter or statement occurring during the course of the jury's deliberations or to the effect of anything upon his or any other juror's mind or emotions" MISS. R. EVID. 606(b). The purpose of Rule 606(b) has been noted by this Court: "Public policy requires a finality to litigation. And common fairness requires that absolute privacy be preserved for jurors to engage in the full and free debate necessary to the attainment of just verdicts." *Martin*, 732 So. 2d at 852 (citation omitted). Moreover, "[j]urors will not be able to function effectively if their deliberations are to be scrutinized in post-trial litigation. In the interests of protecting the jury system and the citizens who make it work, rule 606 should not permit any inquiry into the internal deliberations of the jurors." *Id.* (citation omitted).

A juror may only testify on the question of: (1) "whether extraneous prejudicial information was improperly brought to the jury's attention"; or (2) "whether any outside influence was improperly brought to bear upon any juror." MISS. R. EVID. 606(b). Looking to federal decisions⁵ for additional guidance, the Mississippi Supreme Court noted additional exceptions not explicitly mentioned in Rule 606(b): "Rule 606(b) does not prohibit testimony or

⁵ "[I]t is proper and helpful to look to federal decisions [to see] how those courts have dealt with situations similar to the one presented in this case." *Martin*, 732 So. 2d at 851.

affidavits of jurors, stating that the verdict reached was not their true verdict, but was instead a mistake due to [1] the recording of the verdict, [2] transmission of the verdict, or [3] a clerical error." *Martin*, 732 So. 2d at 851. These additional exceptions are only applicable to those "few and far between" cases. *Id.* at 852 (quoting *U.S. v. Dotson*, 817 F.2d 1127, 1130 (5th Cir. 1987)).

A clerical error is defined as "discrepancies between the verdict delivered in court and the precise verdict physically or verbally agreed to in the jury room, not to discrepancies between the verdict delivered in court and the verdict or general result which the jury testifies it 'intended' to reach." *Martin*, 732 So. 2d at 854 (adopting definition set forth in *Robles v. Exxon Corp.*, 862 F.2d 1201, 1208 n.9 (5th Cir. 1989)). A clerical error "would be the case where the jury foreperson wrote down . . . a number different from that agreed upon by the jury, or mistakenly stated that the defendant was 'guilty' when the jury had actually agreed that the defendant was not guilty." *Robles*, 862 F.2d at 1208.

In this case, the Appellant solely relies on a letter⁶ sent from the jury foreman to the trial judge via email regarding the court's instructions. (App. Brf. at 19-20). In the letter, the jury foreman stated that the jury may have misinterpreted one of the instructions provided by the court. R.E. 1. This type of jury testimony is not permitted under Rule 606(b) or any of its exceptions. "[T]he error alleged here goes to the substance of what the jury was asked to decide, necessarily implicating the jury's mental processes insofar as it questions the jury's

⁶ Appellant does not argue that the Court provided erroneous instructions. Even if the trial court provided erroneous instructions on the law to the jury, "other means of correcting discernible error are available without inquiring into the jurors' mental processes." *Peveto v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 807 F.2d 486, 489 (5th Cir. 1987). One of those means is to object to the instruction provided to the jury. *Peveto*, 807 F.2d at 490. Appellant did not object to the jury instruction provided by the trial court to the jury. Due to Appellant's failure to object to the jury instruction, Appellant cannot base her motion for a new trial on the confusion of the jury instruction. *See Berryhill v. Byrd*, 348 So. 2d 1026, 1029 (Miss. 1980); *White v. Stewman*, Nos. 2005-CA-00069-SCT, 2005-IA-00022-SCT, 2006 WL 1644061, at *29 (Miss. June 15, 2006)(suggesting that a party's failure to object to the form of the verdict at trial prevented basing a motion for a new trial on the verdict).

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